

Data Explorer Guide Axiom Software



Contents

Data Explorer	1
About Data Explorer	1
Exposing table data for use in the Data Explorer	4
Data Sets for Data Explorer	7
Creating a new Data Explorer	
Opening a saved Data Explorer	11
Viewing data in the Data Explorer	
Data Explorer overview	12
Defining the data query for the Data Explorer	14
Filtering data in the Data Explorer	17
Defining calculations in the Data Explorer	20
Formatting values in the Data Explorer	22
Subtotaling data by a dimension in the Data Explorer	23
Changing the data view for the Data Explorer	
Exporting data to a spreadsheet from the Data Explorer	26
Saving a Data Explorer	

Data Explorer

Using the Data Explorer, you can analyze and report on your data using an intuitive drag-and-drop interface. You can explore your data and see results immediately, without the overhead of designing and formatting a more formal report.

The Data Explorer is ideal for performing quick on-the-fly analysis. You can open a new Data Explorer instance at any time to simply view and explore data, or you can save certain settings in a permanent Data Explorer file that you can then reuse as needed whenever you want to analyze that set of data. Saved Data Explorer files are stored in the Reports Library and can be shared with other users.

About Data Explorer

Using the Data Explorer, you can perform drag-and-drop analysis on your Axiom Software data. To view data, you drag values and dimensions from the Available Fields to the query settings at the top of the screen. This topic provides an overview of how the Data Explorer works.

Prerequisites

In order to expose data to the Data Explorer, one or more data sets must be defined for your system in the Table Administration area of the Desktop Client (Excel Client or Windows Client). Data sets are defined collections of tables and columns in your database. When creating a new Data Explorer file, you select which data set you want to use to determine the data that is available for analysis. For more information, see Exposing table data for use in the Data Explorer.

Accessing the Data Explorer

The Data Explorer is viewed using the Axiom Web Client. You can access the Web Client directly and use the Data Explorer, or you can create and open Data Explorer files from within the Excel Client or the Windows Client (this will automatically launch the Web Client in your browser). Your browser must meet the minimum technical requirements for use of the Axiom Web Client in order to use the Data Explorer.

Working in the Data Explorer

The Data Explorer is designed so that users do not need detailed knowledge of their database structures in order to view data. The Data Explorer works by simplifying data into two categories, *values* and *dimensions*. Values are the data values that you want to report on, such as budget data for the first quarter, or actuals data for last year. Dimensions represent how you want that data grouped and displayed. For example, do you want to see budget data by account or department, or by groupings such as category, company, region, VP, etc.?

To use the Data Explorer, you can simply drag and drop your desired values and your desired row dimension. You can also optionally specify a column dimension—for example if you want to compare revenue budgets for next year by region, with a region in each column. You can view the resulting data in an easy-to-read grid display, or you can click a button to automatically generate various charts and graphs based on the data.

Actuals			C	hese boxes		🖶 📩 🍺 🖳 whun
vailable Fields	Values	+	Rows	Colur	nns	Filters
alues M1 (GL2012) M2 (GL2012) M3 (GL2012) M4 (GL2012) Value fields ho			Category 💥	World	any	Drop o field here to filter.
M5 (GL2012) reportable data	ACCT.Category	▼ Asia	T	Corporate T	Europe T	
 M7 (GL2012) M8 (GL2012) M9 (GL2012) 	Balance Sheet		0	1.275.105	0	0
					-	
III M10 (GL2012)	COGS		1,424,772	0	212,824	9,960,425
M11 (GL2012)	Marketing		26,459	125,797	4,980	270,754
M12 (GL2012)	✓ Other Expenses		3,439	810,558	6,517	847,066
CUR (GL2012)	Other Income/Expense		0	6,120	0	998,093
imensions	Overhead		98,656	3,027,605	15,309	309,421
ACCT (ACCT) Description (ACCT)						
Category (ACCT)	Payroll		1,515,354	2,752,595	132,037	7,352,939
P DEPT (DEPT)	Revenue		3,296,920	0	512,125	26,785,138
Description (DEPT)	Statistic		-38,178	-191,616	-4,979	-576,509
World Region (DEPT)	Taxes		0	532,091	0	0
Country (DEPT) Region (DEPT) VP (DEPT) Manager (DEPT)	edata		1,075,153	43,085	78,312	7,035,304

The user's table permissions as defined in security always apply to the data displayed in the Data Explorer, just as they would when refreshing a regular report. The user can see all data set names and all column names, but the data query will always be filtered according to the user's security permissions.

Saving and sharing Data Explorer files

You can use the Data Explorer as a temporary tool for data analysis, or you can save Data Explorer files for your future use and/or to share with other users. All save actions are performed using the toolbar at the top of the Data Explorer.

When you save a Data Explorer, the current query settings are saved as a starting point. The next time the file is opened, it will start with the saved settings for Value, Row, Column, and Filter. You can change these settings as desired to perform further analysis in the current session. You can then close the file without saving the setting changes, or you can save the file to set a different "starting point" for the file. You can also save a copy of the file with these new settings.

Data Explorer files are stored in the Reports Library, using a special icon: I. Access to Data Explorer files is controlled just like any other file in the Reports Library, using the file permission settings defined for the folder or the file in Axiom Software security. Users with read-only access can open the Data Explorer file to view the data and modify settings for the current session, and they can use Save As to save a copy of the file (if they have read/write access to a report folder). Users with read/write access can modify settings in the Data Explorer file and save it.

Li	braries	•
Ŧ	Reports Library	
	🕨 퉬 Budget Reports	
	👻 🌗 Data Explorers	
	Actuals	
	📑 Budget	
	퉬 File Processing	
	🕨 퉬 Forms	

Data Explorer files in the Reports Library

Users can open Data Explorer files from the Reports Library in the Excel Client or the Windows Client, or they can go to the Data Explorer page in the Web Client to browse available files. New Data Explorer files can also be created in all environments.

Once a Data Explorer file has been saved, you can easily share it with other users by sending them the hyperlink to the file. If you have the file open in the Web Client, then you can simply copy and paste the URL from your browser window. In the Excel Client or Windows Client, you can right-click the file in the Reports Library and choose **Copy shortcut to clipboard**. The other user must have the appropriate permissions to view the file.

Exposing table data for use in the Data Explorer

The Data Explorer is intended to be used for quick and easy data analysis. Therefore, instead of exposing all data in your system at once (which may be overwhelming for users to sift through and find what they want), the Data Explorer uses the concept of *data sets* to define a distinct set of data available for analysis. Administrators must define one or more data sets to enable use of the Data Explorer.

Data sets are based on table columns. When you create a data set, you pick columns from one or more tables. Users can then drag and drop those columns as desired within the Data Explorer. Any data outside of those columns is not available in the Data Explorer while the user is working with that data set.

In order to expose data for use in the Data Explorer, you must do the following:

- Review the column classification for any column that you plan to include in a data set, and adjust as needed.
- Define one or more data sets to make available for use in the Data Explorer.
- (Optional) Define intuitive display names for columns in data sets so that users can more easily understand what is in each column.

These activities are performed using table management features in the Excel Client or the Windows Client.

Defining column classifications

Each column in a table is assigned a classification. This classification is used to determine whether the data in a column is considered to be values or dimensions:

- Value: Value columns contain reportable data such as budget or actuals data. For example, most columns in a data table such as GL2018 are value columns, such as M1 through M12, as well as calculated columns such as CUR, TOT, and YTD.
- **Dimension**: Dimension columns define the levels at which you want to group and display the value data. For example, the key columns in a data table such as GL2018 are dimension columns (such as Acct and Dept). Columns in lookup reference tables such as Dept and Acct are almost always dimension columns as well. In addition to the Acct and Dept key columns, this would include columns such as AcctCategory, Company, Region, VP, etc.

When using the Data Explorer, value columns define the data values to be reported on, and dimension columns define the row groupings (and optionally column groupings). For example, you can drag a dimension column to the rows or the columns of the Data Explorer, but you can't drag it to the values. Similarly you can drag a value column to the values of Data Explorer but not to the rows or columns. Filters can be defined using either value or dimension columns.

All columns are assigned a classification by default, but you can override this classification as needed. The default classifications are as follows:

- Numeric columns are classified as Value by default.
- Integer columns (all types) are classified as Dimension in reference tables. In data tables, non-key, non-validated Integer columns are classified as Value, otherwise they are classified as Dimension.
- All other columns are classified as Dimension.

NOTE: All columns in document reference tables are assigned Dimension as the classification. This cannot be changed.

If the default classification is not appropriate for a particular column in a data or reference table, you can change it in the column properties. To edit column properties in a table, you must either be an administrator or have the **Administer Tables** permission (as well as access to the table).

To change the classification for a column:

1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Tables and then navigate in the Table Library to the desired table. Select Edit Table Structure for that table.

TIP: If you are in the Axiom Explorer table view, you can right-click a table to edit the table structure.

- 2. In the Edit Table dialog, click the Columns tab.
- 3. In the left-hand pane of the Columns tab, select the column that you want to change. Then in the right-hand pane, scroll down the list of properties until you locate **Column Classification**.

- 4. Select one of the following options for Column Classification:
 - **Default**: The column will use the default classification for this type of column. The default classification for the current column is listed in parenthesis.
 - **Dimension**: The column is considered to be a dimension column, regardless of its default classification.
 - Value: The column is considered to be a value column, regardless of its default classification.

C Edit Table		§ ×
Edit the columns contained in table	DEPT.	
General Table Properties Column	S Aliases Sequences Calcula	ted Fields Hierarchies
* • X * * V DEPT	Column Name	Country
Description Template	Description Data Type	Country for each departmer String
WorldRegion Country	Max String Length Key Column	25 False
Region	Lookup Column Hierarchy Display Name	E
Currency VP E	Is Filter Column Force UPPER	True False
Manager Consolidated	Describes Key Column Classification	False Default (Dimension) 💌
Owner FcstDept	Fixed Read Only Data	Default (Dimension) Dimension Value
BgtCombineDuringQuery ShowOnList	Table.Name Column Classification	Value
TestGroup -		
		Apply OK Cancel

5. Click OK to save.

Column display names

By default, the columns in the data set display in the Data Explorer using their actual column names. If desired, you can define more intuitive display names that will be used instead of the column names. This may make it easier for non-technical users to identify the data that they want to see. The user can still see the Table.Column name in the tooltip when they hover over a display name.

To define a display name, use the Hierarchy Display Name property for the column. This display name is also used by hierarchies (such as in the Quick Filter and Filter Wizard). Make sure that the defined display name is appropriate for all places where it will be used.

To edit column properties in a table, you must either be an administrator or have the **Administer Tables** permission (as well as access to the table).

To define the display name for a column:

1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Tables and then navigate in the Table Library to the desired table. Select Edit Table Structure for that table.

TIP: If you are in the Axiom Explorer table view, you can right-click a table to edit the table structure.

- 2. In the Edit Table dialog, click the Columns tab.
- 3. In the left-hand pane of the Columns tab, select the column that you want to change. Then in the right-hand pane, scroll down the list of properties until you locate **Hierarchy Display Name**.
- 4. Type the desired display name into the Hierarchy Display Name field.
- 5. Click **OK** to save.

Defining data sets

Data sets define collections of table columns that are available for drag and drop analysis within the Data Explorer. When users create new Data Explorers, they first select which data set they want to use. They can then report on any data within the value columns in that data set, and they can group and display the data using any dimension columns in that data set.

When defining a data set, you should consider the following:

- What is a useful and distinct set of data that users may want to perform ad hoc analysis on? Data sets are most useful when they are focused on a particular area of interest to help users answer a specific set of questions. Including all of your data in a data set may make the Data Explorer difficult to use.
- Once you have decided on the data, which specific columns should be included in the data set? Generally speaking, you want to limit the data set to only the necessary columns so that users can quickly and easily identify what they want to see and how they want to see it, without sifting through endless lists of columns.
- What name should the data set have, so that the contents and purpose of the data set will be obvious to users? For example, instead of naming the data set "Budget Columns", you might want to name it something like "Analyze Budget Data".

To define data sets, you use the Data Set Manager. This tool is available from the **Tables > Table Administration** menu, and is only available to administrators or users with the **Administer Tables** permission.

Data Sets for Data Explorer

Data sets are used by the Data Explorer to determine which columns are available for drag-and-drop analysis. In this context, the selected data set defines the data available to the Data Explorer at any one time.

When you define a Data Explorer data set, you select the columns to include and you define a name to describe that collection of columns.

Only administrators or users with the Administer Tables security permission can manage Data Explorer data sets.

NOTE: There is a second type of data set known as *product data sets*, used to define the columns that belong to a particular product. Product data sets can only be defined from within the **Edit Table** dialog, and do not display when working with Data Explorer data sets.

Data set design considerations

Note the following design considerations for data sets:

- For dimension-classified columns with lookup relationships, the Data Explorer always uses the lookup column for the underlying database query, not the validated column. For example, if GL2013.Acct links to Acct.Acct, Acct.Acct will always be used. Therefore when selecting columns to include in the data set, you should include either the validated column *or* the lookup column (since using either will give you the same results)—but not both. Including both columns may cause confusion for users as to which column to use. If multiple data tables are included in the data set, you should always include the lookup column instead of the validated columns.
- It is recommended to limit the data set to only the specific columns that users will report and filter on. Keep the list of columns as streamlined and focused as possible, so that users can easily explore the data and find the columns they are looking for. Do not select all columns in a table unless you truly need all of those columns.

Adding a data set

You can create as many data sets for Data Explorer as you want. Data sets can be created from scratch, or you can clone an existing data set.

To create a new Data Explorer data set:

- 1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Tables > Table Administration > Data Set Manager.
- 2. In the Data Set Manager dialog, click New +.
- 3. At the top of the Data Set Editor dialog, define the following:
 - Name: The name should be brief and intuitive. Users will select these names when creating Data Explorer files, to define the set of data available in the Data Explorer.
 - **Description**: The description is for data set managers only, to explain the purpose of the data set. The description does not display to end users.
- 4. At the bottom of the Data Set Editor dialog, select the columns to include in the data set.

You can select all of the columns in a particular table by selecting the check box next to the table name, or you can expand the table name and select individual columns in that table.

If a column has a defined **Hierarchy Display Name**, that name displays in parentheses after the column name. The display name will be used in the Data Explorer.

To make it easier to find specific columns that you want to select, you can filter the list of tables by using the table classification check boxes at the top of the list, or by typing filter text into the box above the list.

5. Click **OK** to save.

To clone an existing Data Explorer data set:

- 1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Tables > Table Administration > Data Set Manager.
- 2. In the Data Set Manager dialog, select the data set that you want to copy, and then click Clone c.

The **Data Set Editor** dialog opens, populated with the settings from the cloned data set. The name of the data set is incremented by a number to prevent duplicate data set names.

- 3. Edit the data set properties as desired.
- 4. Click **OK** to save.

Editing a data set

Data sets for Data Explorer can be edited at any time. Any changes made to a data set will not be reflected in any open Data Explorer files using that data set. Changes will take effect the next time a user opens that file.

If you remove a column from a data set, and a Data Explorer file has been saved that uses the column as part of its data query configuration, then the next time that Data Explorer is opened the column will be flagged as no longer part of the data set (which may result in the query no longer being useful).

To edit a Data Explorer data set:

- 1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Tables > Table Administration > Data Set Manager.
- 2. In the Data Set Manager dialog, select the data set that you want to edit, and then click Edit */*.
- 3. In the Data Set Editor dialog, edit the data set properties as desired.
- 4. Click OK to save.

Deleting a data set

Data sets can be deleted at any time. If any Data Explorer files use the deleted data set, those Data Explorer files can still be opened but will only show data for the columns that were configured in the query settings when the Data Explorer was last saved. In other words, the Data Explorer will still show data for the currently configured Rows, Values, and Columns, but any columns that were not part of the query when the Data Explorer was saved will no longer be available. To delete a Data Explorer data set:

- 1. On the Axiom tab, in the Administration group, click Tables > Table Administration > Data Set Manager.
- 2. In the Data Set Manager dialog, select the data set that you want to delete, and then click Delete X.

You are prompted to confirm that you want to delete the data set.

3. Click **OK** to delete.

Creating a new Data Explorer

You can create a new Data Explorer using the Excel Client or the Windows Client, or using the Web Client. In either case, once the Data Explorer session has been created, it is opened in the Web Client and the interface from that point is the same.

You can choose whether to save the new session as a Data Explorer file, or you can use the Data Explorer session as a temporary tool for ad-hoc analysis and not save it.

NOTE: Your system must have at least one defined data set in order to create a Data Explorer.

To create a new Data Explorer in the Excel Client or Windows Client:

1. On the Axiom tab, in the Reports group, click Reports > New Data Explorer.

If this menu item is not present, this means that no data sets have been defined in your system. An administrator must first define one or more data sets.

2. In the **New Data Explorer** dialog, select the data set that you want to use with the Data Explorer, and then click **OK**.

Data sets are predefined collections of tables and columns. The data set determines the available data for the Data Explorer session.

The new Data Explorer opens in the Web Client (in your browser). The available fields are the fields allowed by the selected data set. You can now work with this Data Explorer as desired.

To create a new Data Explorer in the Web Client:

1. Go to the Data Explorer area of the Web Client.

Example On-	http:// <i>ServerName</i> /Axiom/DataExplorer
Premise URL	Where <i>ServerName</i> is the name of the Axiom Application Server, and Axiom is the default name of the virtual directory.
Example Cloud	https:// <i>CustomerName</i> .axiom.cloud/DataExplorer
System URL	Where <i>CustomerName</i> is the name of your cloud service system.

Alternatively, you can go to the Axiom Software launch page and click the Data Explorer icon.

2. In the top right-hand corner of the Data Explorer page, click New Data Explorer.

← → Ø http://	/Axiom/dataexpl	orer P - C	🧭 Data Explorers	×				- □ × ೧☆ ©
File Edit View Fa	worites Tools He	elp				Click here	to	
C Axiom Da	ata Explor	ers				create a ne Data Explo		🌛 🍺 <u> N</u> whunter
All Fol	ders 🖪						QSearch:	×
								10 items
li b	1	1	1	il.	il.	1	il.	iliz
Actuals Original	Actuals	Budget	Ryan Actuals	Ryan Budget	demo	Actuals_calculation	Test Data	Test

3. In the New Data Explorer dialog, select the data set that you want to use with the Data Explorer, and then click OK.

Data sets are user-defined collections of tables and columns. The data set determines the available data for the Data Explorer session.

If no data sets are defined in your system, a message box informs you that one must be created before you can use the Data Explorer. If you have the appropriate permissions, you can log into the Excel Client or the Windows Client and create a new data set. Otherwise, contact your system administrator for assistance.

The new Data Explorer opens in the current tab. The available fields are the fields allowed by the selected data set. You can now work with this Data Explorer as desired.

Opening a saved Data Explorer

Once a Data Explorer has been saved, you can access it from either the Excel Client or Windows Client, or directly from the Web Client. Regardless of which client you use to open the file, the Data Explorer will open in the Web Client.

When a saved Data Explorer is opened, it uses the query settings from when it was last saved. You can then modify the query settings as desired for the current session. When you are done, you can close the Data Explorer without saving (thereby leaving the saved settings intact), or you can save the Data Explorer with your revised settings, or you can save a copy of the Data Explorer with the new settings.

To open a Data Explorer in the Excel Client or Windows Client:

In the Excel Client and Windows Client, Data Explorer files are saved in the Reports Library and can be accessed like other reports—such as by using the Reports menu on the ribbon, or by using the Explorer task pane. Data Explorer files are differentiated from other report files by use of the Data Explorer icon

If you are an administrator and you want to test a Data Explorer using different user permissions, you can open a Data Explorer as a different user from the Excel Client or the Windows Client. To do so, rightclick the file in the Explorer task pane and then choose **Open (as other user)**. To open a Data Explorer in the Web Client:

In the Web Client, you can open saved Data Explorer files from the following location:

Example On-	http://ServerName/Axiom/DataExplorer
Premise URL	Where <i>ServerName</i> is the name of the Axiom Application Server, and Axiom is the default name of the virtual directory.
Example Cloud	https:// <i>CustomerName</i> .axiom.cloud/DataExplorer
System URL	Where <i>CustomerName</i> is the name of your cloud service system.

Alternatively, you can go to the Axiom Software launch page and click the Data Explorer icon.

From this page you can:

- Use the All view to see all Data Explorer files that you have permission to access.
- Use the Folders view to browse Data Explorer files by folder in the Reports Library.
- Use the Search box to find Data Explorer files based on their name.

When viewing lists of Data Explorers, you can switch between Icon View and Detail View. To open a Data Explorer from this location, click it.

Viewing data in the Data Explorer

Using the Data Explorer, you can perform drag-and-drop analysis on your Axiom Software data. To view data, you drag values and dimensions from the Available Fields to the query settings at the top of the screen.

See the topics in this section for full details on querying and viewing data in the Data Explorer.

Data Explorer overview

The Data Explorer works by simplifying data into two categories, values and dimensions.

- Values are the data values that you want to report on, such as budget data for the first quarter, or actuals data for last year.
- *Dimensions* represent how you want that data grouped and displayed. For example, do you want to see budget data by account or department, or by groupings such as category, company, region, VP, etc.?

To query data, you can drag and drop values into the Values box, and a dimension into the Rows box. This will populate the data grid with the specified values, grouped by the row dimension. You can optionally make the query more sophisticated by placing a dimension in the columns, or by using multiple row dimensions, or by defining a filter. **TIP:** You can also drag and drop values and dimensions directly into the appropriate zones of the grid. When you drag a field over the grid, shading will indicate whether you are dropping the field into the rows, columns, or values zone. The shading is green if the field is eligible to be placed there, and red if it is not. Once a field is dropped, the query is refreshed and the field is added to the appropriate query box.

To remove a field from one of the query boxes, click the X button for that field. You can also drag and drop a field from one query box to another (as long as the field is eligible to be placed in that box), such as dragging a dimension from Rows to Columns. If you drag a field from any query box to the Filter box, then a copy is placed in the Filter box so that you can filter based on that field (leaving the original field in place).

The following is a summary of each section of the Data Explorer:

Item	Description
Available Fields	Displays the available values and dimensions that can be queried in this Data Explorer.
	The available fields are determined by the selected data set for the Data Explorer. The data set is assigned when the Data Explorer is created, and cannot be subsequently changed (although the data set itself can be edited to include or exclude fields, which will be reflected in Data Explorers that use that data set).
	Each field in this section displays with the following:
	 An icon that indicates whether the field is a key column or a non-key column (key columns have a key icon).
	 The name of the field (using either the actual column name or the display name if defined).
	 The table name that the field belongs to, in parentheses.
Values	Defines the data values that you want to display in the Data Explorer. You can place one or more value fields in this box.
	Users who are familiar with Axiom query construction can think of this as the data columns that you would place in the field definition for the query.
	Dimension fields cannot be placed in the Values box.
Rows	Defines the grouping level for the rows. The most common use case is to place a single dimension field in this box, which results in one row per item in the specified dimension. However, it is possible to group the rows by multiple dimensions.
	Users who are familiar with Axiom query construction can think of this as the "sum by" level for the query.
	Value fields cannot be placed in the Row box.

Item	Description
Columns	Optional. Defines the grouping level for the columns. You can place a single dimension field in this box, which results in one column per item in the specified dimension, showing the values from the specified value field.
	Users who are familiar with Axiom query construction can think of this as placing column filters in the field definition.
	Value fields cannot be placed in the Columns box.
Filters	Optional. Filters the data returned by the query. You can place one or more value fields and/or dimension fields in this box to filter by those fields.
	Users who are familiar with Axiom query construction can think of this as defining a data filter for the query.

Defining the data query for the Data Explorer

The data query for the Data Explorer is defined by doing the following:

- Place one or more Value fields in the Values box to define the columns of data for the query. You can also define custom value fields for calculations.
- Place one or more Dimension fields in the **Rows** box to define the grouping level for the rows.
- Optional. Place a single Dimension field in the **Columns** box if you want the column data to be grouped by a dimension.

For example, if you want to view Q4 data by account, you would place the Q4 value field in the Values box and the Acct dimension field in the Rows box. If instead you want to view all four quarters of data, you would place the value fields Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4 in the Values box.

🖉 Untitled *							🖶 📩 🍺 🔍 whu	inte												
Available Fields		Values	+	Rows	Colum	ins	Filters													
Values CUR (GL2012) Q1 (GL2012) Q2 (GL2012)	^	a1 - X a2 - X a3	* ×	ACCT 36	Drop a c column:	limension here to group across the	Drop a field here to filter.													
Q3 (GL2012) Q4 (GL2012) TOT (GL2012)	- 1	III 👍 💊 🛰						Ę												
101 (GL2012)		ACCT.ACCT	GL2012.0	u T	GL2012.Q2	GL2012.Q3	GL2012.Q4	T												
YTD1 (GL2012)		1000		-6,552,796	-1,976,862	-2,707,507	2,066,91	2												
YTD10 (GL2012) YTD11 (GL2012)		1100		30	17	-14,596	-4	5												
II YTD12 (GL2012)		1300		3,554,649	-1,946,693	-760,235	5,052,64	8												
1 YTD2 (GL2012)	~	1400		172,844	-192,173	6.378	-402,28	6												
YTD3 (GL2012)														1600		-2,645	-31,823	-128,336	-24,10	
imensions																				
ACCT (ACCT)		1700		-2,516,934	-49,544	-36,004	-17,77													
 Description (ACCT) Category (ACCT) 		1800		0	C	0		0												
V DEPT (DEPT)		1900		-451,997	3,314	-122	-486,14	9												
Description (DEPT)		2000		-479,245	54,944	-41,923	-81,35	4												
 World Region (DEPT) Country (DEPT) 		2100		-126,524	302,909	-15,307,689	762,51	6												
Country (DEPT) Region (DEPT)		2200		-539,735	-658,820	14,187,167	-104,69	1												
VP (DEPT)		2300		0	3,739	0		0												
Manager (DEPT)		2400		115,906	-199,858	-828,221	762,87	4												
				71,239,022	55,335,632		69,723,67													

Example Data Explorer with values and rows defined (click to view full size)

You can also filter the data for the query using the Filter box. For more information, see Filtering data in the Data Explorer.

NOTE: If the available fields for the Data Explorer come from multiple tables, then fields may dynamically become hidden in the Available Fields area depending on whether they are compatible with what you have already placed in the query settings. If placing a field in the query settings would result in an invalid query, then that field is hidden and will not become available until the query settings are changed to a state that would allow that field.

Defining values

The Values box defines the columns of data for the query. You can drag and drop one or more value field into this box.

Typically, the minimum query will have at least one value field and at least one row dimension. Although it is possible to define only values, this will return the entire summarized value for the value field, which is of limited use. For example, if you place a Q4 value field in the Values box and do not define a row dimension, the Data Explorer will display the sum of all values for Q4, for all departments and all accounts (or for whichever dimensions are being used by your system). You must define a row dimension in order to summarize the data at a meaningful level, such as per department or per account, or by a grouping such as category, region, VP, etc.

If desired, you can also define custom value fields for calculations, such as a variance field. For more information, see Defining calculations in the Data Explorer.

NOTE: The order of fields in the Values box defines the order of columns displayed in the Data Explorer. Currently, you cannot drag and drop fields within a box to change the order. If you want to change the order, you will need to delete and then re-add the fields in the desired order.

Defining rows

The Rows box defines the grouping level for the rows of the query. You can drag and drop one or more dimension fields into this box. For example, if you want each row to display data for a particular department, then the row dimension should be DEPT.

Most queries will have just one row dimension. If desired, you can place multiple row dimensions to group the data by both dimensions. For example, if you define Dept and Acct as your row dimensions, then you will have one row for each unique account/department combination.

When using multiple row dimensions, you also have the option to subtotal the data by dimension. For more information, see Subtotaling data by a dimension in the Data Explorer

NOTES:

- Only 5000 rows can be displayed in the Data Explorer (grid view). If your row dimension settings result in more than 5000 rows, a warning displays at the top of the Data Explorer to let you know that not all of your data is being displayed. If this occurs, you should define a filter to limit the data to a smaller number of rows.
- The order of fields in the Rows box (if using multiple row dimensions) defines the order of the dimension columns displayed in the Data Explorer. Currently, you cannot drag and drop fields within a box to change the order. If you want to change the order, you will need to delete and then re-add the fields in the desired order.

Defining columns

The Columns box is only used if you want the columns in the Data Explorer to show the Values data by a dimension. You can drag and drop a single dimension value into this box. This causes the value field in the Values box to be "split" so that you now have one column of data per dimension item.

For example, imagine you have Q4 as the Values and Acct as the Rows. This means you have one row per account, and one column of data showing the Q4 values for each account. Now imagine that you place the Region dimension in the Columns box. The rows remain the same, but now you could have six columns of data, each one showing the Q4 data for a particular region.

🕻 Actuals							🖩 📩 🇊 🖂 whur	nte
Available Fields		Values	+	Rows	Colu	mns	Filters	
Values M1 (GL2012) M2 (GL2012) M3 (GL2012)	^	Q4 🖛 💥		Cotegory 30	Work	(Region 30	Drop a field here to filter.	
M4 (GL2012) M5 (GL2012)		III 🔒 👄 🚧						ą
M6 (GL2012) M7 (GL2012)		ACCT.Category	T Asia	T	Corporate 7	Europe T	North America	•
M8 (GL2012)		Balance Sheet		0	1,275,105	0	0	,
M9 (GL2012)		COGS		1,424,772	0	212,824	9,960,425	
M10 (GL2012) M11 (GL2012)		Marketing		26,459	125,797	4,980	270,754	1
M12 (GL2012)		Other Expenses		3,439	810.558	6.517	847.066	
CUR (GL2012)	Ť	Other Income/Expense			6,120		998.093	
imensions				0				
ACCT (ACCT)		Overhead		98,656	3,027,605	15,309	309,421	
Description (ACCT) Category (ACCT)		Payroll		1,515,354	2,752,595	132,037	7,352,939	1
V DEPT (DEPT)		Revenue		3,296,920	c	512,125	26,785,138	J
Description (DEPT)		Statistic		-38,178	-191,616	-4,979	-576,509	ł
 World Region (DEPT) Country (DEPT) 		Taxes		0	532,091	0	0	,
Country (DEPT) Region (DEPT) VP (DEPT) Manager (DEPT)		Travel		1,075,153	43,085	78,312	7,035,304	
				7,402,576	8,381,340	957,125	52,982,6	31

Example Data Explorer with columns defined

Typically, the Columns box is used along with both the Values and Rows boxes. However, it is possible to use just the Values and Columns boxes, to "flip" the presentation of a simple query. For example, if you put Q4 in the Values box and Regions in the Columns box (with no row dimension defined), then this is effectively the same as putting Regions in the Row box, except that now you will have the regions data going across the columns instead of down the rows.

NOTES:

- Only one column dimension can be defined at a time. If you have defined a column dimension and now you want to change that dimension, you must delete the current dimension first and then drag and drop a new dimension into the Columns box.
- Only 100 columns can be displayed in the Data Explorer (grid view). If your column dimension and values settings exceed 100 columns, a warning displays at the top of the Data Explorer to let you know that not all of your data is being displayed. If this occurs, you should either decrease the number of value fields or define a filter to limit the number of dimension columns (or both).
- Typically, if you define a column dimension then you only use one field in the Values box. Although you can use column dimensions with multiple value fields, the number of columns in the Data Explorer will start increasing rapidly because you will have one column per dimension for each value field. For example, if you have six regions and three value fields, that is 18 columns of data.

Filtering data in the Data Explorer

You can define a filter to limit the data shown in the Data Explorer. Filters can be based on Values or Dimensions from the list of Available Fields.

The filter is applied as part of the overall query to the database, similar to a data filter defined for an Axiom query. If you want to filter values *after* the query is made, you can do this on the individual display columns (when in grid view).

To apply a filter, drag and drop one or more fields into the Filter box. Then click the down arrow button to define the parameters of the filter. The available parameters depend on whether the field is a dimension or a value. See the sections below for more details.

NOTES:

- If you define a multi-field filter, then the filter for each field is concatenated using AND (meaning a value must meet all filters in order to be included). Currently there is no option to specify OR behavior instead.
- Your data query settings impact which fields are currently valid to be used in the Filter box. If a field is not currently valid, you will not be able to drag and drop it into the Filter box.

Dimension filters

The available options for dimension filters depend on the number of elements in the dimension.

If the dimension has 100 elements or less, then you can define a filter using check boxes to indicate which dimension elements to include in the data query. Any dimension element that is left unchecked will be filtered out. By default, all elements are selected.

Catego	ory 🤝 🗶	
	<u>all</u> non	<u>ie</u>
√ 1	Balance Sheet	
~ (COGS	\sim
V 1	Marketing	
~ (Other Expenses	
~ (Other Income/Expense	
~ (Overhead	
~ 1	Payroll	
~ 1	Revenue	
✓	Statistic	
~	Taxes	
 . 	Travel	~
	OK Cance	l

If the dimension has more than 100 elements, then you can set the filter by typing a value and then using operators such as equals / not equals, or greater than / less than. For example, you might specify that you want to see all departments greater than 5000.

NOTE: The number of dimension elements listed in the filter is limited to the dimensions used by the inferred primary table for the query. For example, you might be filtering by Company and there are 10 unique company values. But if your value fields are from the GL2018 table and only 6 companies are represented in that table, then only 6 companies will be available to the filter.

ilters	
DEPT 🔻 🗙	
greater than	~
5000	
	OK Cancel

This option offers the operators In and Not In. You can use this to enter multiple dimension elements to include or exclude. For example, imagine that you want to see the data for three specific departments in the Data Explorer. You can define a filter using In and then enter a comma-separated list of the departments to include.

ilters		
DEPT 🔻 🗙		
in		~
41000,4200	0,44000	
	OK Car	ncel

Value filters

For value fields, you can set the filter by typing a value and then using operators such as equals / not equals, or greater than / less than. This uses the same options as described above for dimension filters with more than 100 elements.

NOTES:

- Calculations added to the Values box cannot be used to filter data.
- If you are querying data from multiple data tables, value fields from those individual tables cannot be used to filter data.

Defining calculations in the Data Explorer

In addition to displaying one or more value fields, you may also want the Data Explorer to display the result of a calculation. For example, you may be displaying YTD budget data and YTD actuals data, and you also want to display the difference between the two and/or the variance percentage. You can create user-defined calculations which will display as additional columns in the Data Explorer grid.

Calculations support addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division. You can create compound statements with multiple operators, for example to create a variance percentage calculation.

NOTE: If a calculation results in a "divide by zero" error, the result of that calculation is displayed as zero. No error displays in the Data Explorer, but an error is logged to the Web Client log.

In order to create or edit a calculation, the value fields that you want to use in the calculation must already be placed in the Values box. If you want to use a field in a calculation but not display the field in the Data Explorer, you can adjust the display properties of that field so that it is hidden (see Formatting values in the Data Explorer).

To create a calculation:

1. Click the plus icon in the header of the Values box.

Values	t
τοτ 🕶 🗙 Τοτ 🕶 🗶	4.0

The Calculation dialog opens.

- 2. In the Name box, define a name for the calculation. This name will display as the column title for the calculation.
- 3. Use the Available fields and Available operators to construct a calculation within the Formula box.
 - To add a field or an operator to the Formula box, click the desired item.
 - You can also manually type the calculation in the Formula box. However, any value field that you manually type into the box must be present in the Available fields.
 - You can use parentheses to construct compound calculations.

The following example shows a simple difference calculation, where one field is subtracted from the other field.

Calculation ×
Name: Difference
Available fields:
TOT (GL2012.TOT) TOT (GL2013.TOT)
Available operators:
+ - * / () Formula:
GL2013.TOT - GL2012.TOT
Format: Number Vaggregation: Sum Vaggregation
Decimals: 0
OK Cancel

4. Set the formatting options as desired for the calculation. For more information on these options, see Formatting values in the Data Explorer.

Calculations support an additional aggregation option of **Apply Formula**. This means that the "total" value of the calculation column will be calculated by applying the formula to the total row (as opposed to summing all the values in the column, for example).

For some basic calculations, using the default aggregation of Sum will return the same result as Apply Formula. However for other calculations, such as those involving division and multiplication, you will want to change the aggregation to Apply Formula.

5. Click **OK** to create the calculation.

The calculation now displays in the Values box, and in the Data Explorer grid (assuming that is the current view). It will also display in chart views if the query data is valid for that chart type.

Calculations are only saved within the Data Explorer file; they are not part of the data set. If you want the calculation to be available the next time you use the Data Explorer, you must save the file.

Editing and deleting calculations

You can edit calculations like any other value field, by clicking the down arrow next to the field name in the Values box. You can then edit any of the settings in the Calculation dialog.

You can delete a calculation by clicking the X next to the field name in the Values box. Keep in mind that if a calculation is deleted, there is no way to get it back other than exiting out of the current file and opening a saved version of the file that contains the calculation.

Formatting values in the Data Explorer

You can format the display of values in Value fields. The following properties can be controlled:

- The format of the value, either number or percent
- The aggregation method for the automatically generated total and subtotal rows, for this field
- The number of decimal places to display
- Whether the field should be hidden in the data view (does not apply to user-defined calculations which are always displayed)

By default, values are displayed as numbers with zero decimal places. The default aggregation method for the total is sum.

The formatting options do not apply to any non-decimal fields, such as string fields, except for the option to hide the field.

To define the format of a value field:

1. Click the down arrow next to the field name in the Value box. For example:

Values	+
м6 — 🗙	
Format:	Number 🔻
Aggregation:	Sum v
Decimals:	0
🗆 Hide colum	n in output
	OK Cancel

For user-defined calculations, click the Edit icon next to the field name to define formatting options for the calculation. For example:



2. Modify the formatting options as desired:

Item	Description			
Format	Select Number (default) or Percent.			
Aggregation	Select the desired aggregation method to use for this field in the automatically generated total row (and subtotal rows, if applicable). You can choose:			
	• Sum (default): Displays the sum of all values in the column.			
	• Count : Displays the count of all values in the column.			
	• Min: Displays the minimum value in the column.			
	Max: Displays the maximum value in the column.			
	 Average: Displays the average of all values in the column. 			
	 Apply Formula: Uses the defined calculation on the total/subtotal row instead of aggregating the values. This option is only available for user- defined calculations. See Defining calculations in the Data Explorer. 			
	Total and subtotal rows are only generated for decimal-type columns. Calculations are treated as decimal type.			
Decimals	Enter the number of decimal places to display for the values in the column.			
Hide column in output	Select this check box if you do not want to display the field in the data view.			
	You might use this if you want to use the field in a user-defined calculation, but you do not need to see the field in the data view.			
	This option is not available for user-defined calculations.			

3. Click **OK** to apply your changes.

Format settings can only be saved per Data Explorer file. If you want to retain your format changes for this Data Explorer instance, you must save the file.

Subtotaling data by a dimension in the Data Explorer

You can place more than one dimension field in the Rows box, to display the data using multiple dimensions. By default, each row in the Data Explorer will be grouped by all dimension fields (similar to using two or more fields in the "sum by" of an Axiom query). For example, if you define Dept and Acct as your row dimensions, then you will have one row for each unique account/department combination.

If desired, you can define subtotal groupings using one or more of your defined row dimensions, by dragging and dropping a column header to the top of the data grid. This additional grouping area is only available when the Rows box contains at least two dimension fields.

Drag a column header and drop it here to group by that column					
World Region	т	DEPT.DEPT	T		
Asia		50000			
Asia		50500			

For example, imagine that you want to display department data, grouped and subtotaled by World Region. You would place both World Region and Dept into the Rows box, and then you would drag and drop the World Region column header to the top of the grid. The data now displays as shown in the following screenshot, using collapsible groupings:

World Region ×					
World Region	T DEPT	T.DEPT T	GL2012.TOT	GL2013.TOT	Difference T
World Region: Asia					
Asia	5000	00	12,082,127	3,334,781	-8,747,346
Asia	5050	00	527,842	175,115	-352,727
Asia	5400	00	984,719	320,618	-664,102
Asia	5450	00	572,388	125,532	-446,856
Asia	6500	00	15,448,363	4,782,736	-10,665,627
Asia	6550	00	464,591	187,900	-276,691
Asia	7800	00	10,218,463	1,600,161	-8,618,302
Asia	7850	00	7,180	3,318	-3,862
			40,305,674	10,530,161	-29,775,513
World Region: Corporate					
Corporate	2000	00	4,907,438	1,371,001	-3,536,437
Corporate	2100	00	994,237	218,339	-775,898
Corporate	2200	00	5,732,100	1,520,523	-4,211,577
Corporate	2300	00	1,259,360	369,474	-889,885
Corporate	2400	00	50,450	246	-50,204
Corporate	2500	00	2,289,320	747,930	-1,541,390
			256,428,771	72,045,898	-184,382,873

You can change the sort order of the grouping blocks by clicking the dimension field in the grouping header. To remove the grouping blocks, click the X to the right of the dimension name.

Data that is grouped and subtotaled in this way cannot be exported to a spreadsheet.

Changing the data view for the Data Explorer

You can view the data in the Data Explorer using several different views. By default, the view is a grid-style view. To change the data view, click one of the view buttons above the data display area.

Values +	Rows
TOT 🔻 🗙 TOT 🖛 🗶 Difference 📝 🗶	DEPT 🗙
Uiew buttons	
	2012.TOT
20000	

Grid view

This view displays the requested data in a grid. This is the default view for the Data Explorer.

- Data is displayed in a column/row grid based on the data query settings. The first column(s) display the row dimension(s), followed by one or more value columns (optionally broken out by the column dimension). Value columns are displayed in the order they are listed in the Values box. Each value column has a subtotal.
- You can sort on a column in the grid by clicking the column header.
- You can filter on a column in the grid by clicking the down arrow in the column header. When filtering in this view, you can define up to two filter statements using equals / not equals or greater than / less than, and you can specify whether to use AND or OR to concatenate those filters. This filter simply changes what is displayed in the Data Explorer, it does not affect the query to the database.

The grid view is limited to displaying up to 5000 rows and up to 100 columns. If your data query exceeds this, a warning message displays at the top of the screen. You can define a filter to limit the data to the visible parameters.

Column chart

This view displays the requested data in an automatically generated column chart. Currently the chart does not have any options to change its display or configuration.

• By default, the X-axis of the chart uses the row dimension. If no row dimension is defined but a column dimension is defined, then it will use the column dimension. If no row or column dimension is defined, then it will use the value field(s).

- The Y-axis of the chart is automatically generated based on the values in the data query. The columns will show either one or more value fields per row dimension, or all column dimensions per row element (if a column dimension is defined).
- The column chart is not available as a view option if multiple row dimensions are defined, or if a column dimension is used with multiple value fields.

The column chart view is limited to displaying up to 100 rows and up to 100 columns. If your data query exceeds this, no chart will display. You can define a filter to limit the data to the visible parameters.

Pie chart

This view displays the requested data in an automatically generated pie chart. Currently the chart does not have any options to change its display or configuration.

- Each pie slice represents the value of an item in the row dimension (or the column dimension if no row dimension is defined).
- The pie chart is only available for configurations that consist of one defined dimension (either row or column) and one defined value field.

The pie chart view is limited to displaying up to 100 rows and up to 100 columns. If your data query exceeds this, no chart will display. You can define a filter to limit the data to the visible parameters.

Line chart

This view displays the requested data in an automatically generated line chart. Currently the chart does not have any options to change its display or configuration.

The rules for the line chart are the same as the rules for the column chart.

The line chart view is limited to displaying up to 100 rows and up to 100 columns. If your data query exceeds this, no chart will display. You can define a filter to limit the data to the visible parameters.

Exporting data to a spreadsheet from the Data Explorer

When you are in grid view, you have the option to export the current data to an Excel spreadsheet file. This exports the data shown in the grid, including column headers.

To export the data, click the **Export Grid to Excel** button located above the grid, on the right side. Follow the browser prompts to save the XLSX file to your desired location. By default, the name of the file is the name of the Data Explorer file (if saved as a file).

This exported data is static and disconnected from Axiom Software. It cannot be subsequently updated.

Saving a Data Explorer

You can save a Data Explorer session for your future use, or to share with other Axiom Software users. Data Explorers are saved as a special file type within the Reports Library.

When you save a Data Explorer, the current query settings are saved as a starting point. The next time the file is opened, it will start with the saved settings for Value, Row, Column, and Filter. You can change these settings as desired to perform further analysis in the current session. You can then close the file without saving the setting changes, or you can save the file to set a different "starting point" for the file. You can also save a copy of the file with these new settings.

NOTE: The selected view is not saved; when a Data Explorer is opened the data is always shown in grid view.

Access to Data Explorer files is controlled just like any other file in the Reports Library, using the file permission settings defined for the folder or the file in security.

Saving a new Data Explorer

Use the **Save As** button in the top right-hand corner to save a new Data Explorer, or to save a copy of an existing Data Explorer.

In the **Save As** dialog, navigate to the folder where you want to save the file, and type a file name. Click **Save** to save the file.

Saving an existing Data Explorer

Use the **Save** button $\boxed{1}$ in the top right-hand corner to save the current Data Explorer. The file will be saved using the current Data Explorer settings.

Kaufman Hall[®] is a trademark of Kaufman, Hall & Associates, LLC. Microsoft[®], Excel[®], Windows[®], and SQL Server[®] are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

This document is Kaufman, Hall & Associates, LLC Confidential Information. This document may not be distributed, copied, photocopied, reproduced, translated, or reduced to any electronic medium or machine-readable format without the express written consent of Kaufman, Hall & Associates, LLC.

Copyright © 2018 Kaufman, Hall & Associates, LLC. All rights reserved. Updated: 4/27/2018